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INTRODUCTION

Between 1953, when Edmund Hillary and Tenzing Norgay Sherpa became the first people to summit Mount Everest, and 1992, when the first paying clients were successfully guided up it, only 394 climbers reached the top. Between 1992 and 2024, more than 11,500 others accomplished this same feat. The vast majority of them—more than 90 percent—were the clients and employees of a small number of mountain-guiding companies.

How did a peak that was at first deemed unclimbable, then downgraded to simply suicidal, become one that thousands of people could scale? In Everest, Inc., I answer that question. Doing so necessitated reporting what is perhaps one of the most thrilling untold tales in mountaineering history, if not the history of entrepreneurialism writ large.

While there have been plenty of other written works and films about Everest, they’ve typically been focused on one specific tragedy or triumph. As a result, they’ve added up to a skewed view of the mountain, especially of what it’s like today. Everest, Inc. links together the most influential moments of the last four decades of the mountain’s history and shows that they’ve really been twists and turns on the same wild ride. It reveals that the modern history of Everest is, fundamentally, the history of the guiding industry on Everest. And in taking us to the present moment, it shows how the relationship Nepalis have to their national treasure—Sagarmatha, as the Sherpa people refer to the mountain—as well as their feelings of ownership over it have evolved, going from rock bottom to historic heights in the space of a decade.

The misconceptions about Everest guiding run deep, dating back to that first ascent in 1953 and the false notion that Tenzing Norgay guided Edmund Hillary to the summit, or sometimes that it was the other way around. The majority of the stickiest Everest myths, however, were seeded by Into Thin Air, Jon Krakauer’s brilliant first-person account of an unusually heart-wrenching day. It remains the book about guiding on high peaks, and the lens through which just about all Everest stories continue to be viewed. But Krakauer’s scorching indictment of overcrowding, dangerously smug guides, and bumbling client climbers was written in 1996, only four years after guides first cracked the code on Everest. The mountain’s place in popular culture is seemingly frozen in time, so it’s no wonder that whenever concerns are aired about Everest in the press, someone warns that “it’ll be 1996 all over again.” The notion is as outdated as the plastic-shelled boots climbers used in Krakauer’s day.

Year after year, stories aimed at grabbing the attention of the morbidly curious still hijack the Everest narrative. And when there isn’t tragedy to report on, the mountain is either depicted as a circus, with amateurs who don’t belong buying their way to the top, or a soap opera, with greedy guides and inept clients as the villains, and Sherpas as the victims. Each overly simplified story pushes the myth of what the guiding industry truly is further and further from the more complicated and interesting truth. The time has come for a recalibration of our understanding of who the clients and guides are on the iconic mountain, and why they’re drawn to it.

Before the first successful guided expedition, only about 10 percent of climbers reached the summit. Today, the number is roughly 70 percent. Less than 0.5 percent die while trying. No one knows the story of how we got here better than the Western guides and client climbers, the Sherpa guides and high-altitude workers, and the entrepreneurs and industry watchers who have played a role in the industry over the last forty years. I interviewed more than 120 of those people for this book.

Admittedly, before I began doing my research, I thought I knew a lot about Everest. Once I scratched the surface and then as I continued to dig, however, the surprises were endless. I’ve been writing and reporting about climbing and mountaineering for more than twenty years, including several years as a senior editor at Men’s Journal magazine, which frequently ran Everest stories. In fact, Men’s Journal was the first to publish a feature about the 1996 disaster, written by Peter Wilkinson (Krakauer’s article in Outside magazine that was the basis for his book came out two months later). I worked as a senior editor at Men’s Journal between 2009 and 2014, and went on to write for Outside often, as well as many other national publications about Everest, and mountaineering in general. And I’ve been an avid but amateur climber and mountaineer for my whole life. I hiked to Everest base camp in Nepal in the spring of 2022. I felt like I’d been run over by a bus at that altitude but my inadequacy as a high-altitude climber gave me an enormous appreciation for how impressive it is to merely attempt to climb Everest, let alone summit—and how downright superhuman it is that guides get so many inexperienced people to the summit, safely, year after year.

On my base camp visit and in reporting this book, I came into contact with an army of journeymen and -women who are intoxicated with guiding others through one of the biggest challenges of their lives, and have made a dream come true for people from all over the world. I also gained a deep understanding of the transformative effect the Everest guiding industry is having on the country of Nepal and on the livelihoods of the Sherpa people.

While I have attempted to bring the rumors into balance with a less pessimistic truth in this book, no one gets a free pass. Dysfunction has indeed plagued the guiding industry at times. Mistakes have been made. Lives have been lost, and things remain as complex as ever. Telling the complete story of the industry requires acknowledging uncomfortable facts and inconvenient truths, sometimes about people and companies whom climbers, clients, or guiding industry insiders have long put on a pedestal. I believe it’s necessary to unpack these stories in order to have the standing to also give full credence to the industry’s accomplishments. Because, while it has its issues to account for, there are many positive things about the guiding industry that deserve to be acknowledged.

When it comes to the mountain that looms largest in our collective consciousness, rumor has always outrun the truth. My hope is that Everest, Inc. is an entertaining and thought-provoking step toward rectifying that—because in the case of the guiding industry on Everest, the truth really is more fascinating than fiction.
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PROLOGUE

The summit of Mount Everest is split right down the middle by the border between Nepal and the Tibet Autonomous Region of China, but the vast majority of climbers make their attempt from the Nepal side. If they’re clients of a guiding company, as almost all Everest climbers are today, they do so via the South Col Route–the same one that Edmund Hillary and Tenzing Norgay Sherpa used during their first ascent. On their way to the 29,035 foot summit, clients pass through five well-stocked camps, from the relatively flat and balmy base camp, at 17,600 feet, to the head-spinning and frigid Camp Four, at 26,250 feet. Camp Four sits on the South Col—a saddle-shaped pass between Everest and the adjacent peak Lhotse, the fourth-highest mountain in the world.

Trekkers and climbers reach base camp by first taking one of a dozen daily flights from Nepal’s capital city, Kathmandu, to Tenzing-Hillary Airport in the small village of Lukla, at 9,400 feet. From there, they spend ten days ascending and descending narrow switchbacks and rough staircases hand-built out of local granite, crossing swaying cable bridges over churning glacier-fed rivers, and admiring pink rhododendrons in full spring bloom during the most popular climbing season. They bed down each evening in cozy stone teahouses heated by yak-dung furnaces in increasingly small villages with centuries-old Buddhist temples. As base camp nears, the landscape of variegated earth tones becomes monochromatic, all black rock, white snow, and blue ice. While the Khumbu Glacier on which base camp sits looks like a vast rock garden, it is really the surface of a constantly shifting frozen river that has chewed its way through the surrounding metamorphic rock and deposited the crushed-up debris on the surface. When trekkers crest the final moraine before base camp, at last they see the hundreds of brightly colored, dome-shaped tents stretching across nearly a mile of the glacier.

Many of those who will be attempting the summit as part of a guided expedition will arrive in base camp to incongruous comforts for such a remote outpost, including carpeted lounges with beanbag chairs, high-speed internet access, masseuses, full bars, baristas, and movie screens. The diversions are meant to help fill the ample downtime, as climbers and their guides spend up to eight weeks on their expedition. It’s often said that Everest expeditions are two weeks of climbing crammed into two months. Climbers spend approximately a week, cumulatively, ascending to Camps Two and Three, and up nearby peaks to acclimatize to the crippling altitude. Then, when it’s time to go for the summit—which usually isn’t until about day thirty-five of the expedition, if all is going smoothly—it takes less than a week to climb from base camp to the peak. Coming back down takes only about three days.

Getting from base camp to Camp One requires navigating the mountain’s most treacherous section, where the Khumbu Glacier makes a sudden 2,000-foot climb in the span of about a mile and a half. This landscape of slick ice, enormous blocks of teetering snow, and gaping crevasses is known as the Khumbu Icefall. Camp One is more of a supply depot for oxygen bottles and other gear than an overnight pitstop, so climbers typically push on to Camp Two. Perched at 21,000 feet, in a seemingly benign valley called the Western Cwm (pronounced “koom”), Camp Two has fifty or so tents tucked into sheltered nooks of rock and ice. Surrounding the tents is a towering horseshoe-shaped amphitheater of jagged peaks and ridges consisting of Everest, Lhotse, and a rarely climbed, slightly lower, but more technical subpeak called Nuptse. Frayed, faded Buddhist prayer flags flap in the near-constant breeze as climbers hide out from the elements and sip lemon ginger tea in cramped mess tents that double as command centers—or ERs when disasters strike.

The terrain of Camp Two must be treated with great respect. Routine storms blow in, and avalanches, even distant ones, can push blasts of air and an apocalyptic cloud of white powder into the camp with such force that it rips tents apart or blows them away. Complacent newbies have been swallowed by cracks in the ice while fetching water for an afternoon tea. Even elite mountaineers have been lost. A beloved and skilled Nepalese climber named Babu Chiri Sherpa died in 2001 after falling into a crevasse while taking photos near Camp Two.

Bottom line: in the thin air of Camp Two, it is hard enough to walk a few feet away from your tent to relieve yourself, let alone run for your life. This is why on a now-infamous day in late April 2013, professional climbers Ueli Steck and Simone Moro, and their companion and cameraman Jonathan Griffith, were sick with dread as they fled down the mountain from Camp Two without time to consider the safest route. They had no choice. They were being chased.



Steck and Moro represented an increasingly small slice of Everest society: elite mountaineers who neither paid others to guide them nor took money to guide others. They were sponsored climbers, who received a salary from huge outdoor companies including the North Face and Mountain Hardwear to beguile and inspire amateurs with their daring first ascents and pioneering records.

Steck, thirty-seven at the time, was one of the most famous climbers on earth—a national hero of Switzerland, where they treat professional mountaineers like Americans treat NBA players. His nickname: “the Swiss Machine.” Moro, forty-six, was an Italian who had been coming to Everest since he was twenty-one years old and had summited four times already. He also worked as a pilot for an elite high-altitude helicopter rescue operation in the Himalayas. At thirty-three, Jonathan Griffith, an Englishman, was less experienced, there primarily to film Steck and Moro’s groundbreaking climb for as long as he could keep up with them.

By 2013, there were only a couple of routes left on the mountain that had either never or only rarely been climbed before, and the Europeans were set to attempt one of them. Not only did Steck and Moro intend to summit Everest via this extremely dangerous route, they wanted to continue on in a single twenty-hour push to then summit Lhotse, also via a new route. They planned to do all of this without supplemental oxygen.

The pro climbers, however, were operating on the fringes of a juggernaut that can justly be described as the Everest-industrial complex. On any given day in April and May (Everest’s spring climbing season) there are approximately 1,500 people at base camp. Only a small fraction are independent climbers like Steck and Moro. The rest are clients or employees of the booming commercial guiding businesses, in which amateur climbers—or even complete novices—pay as much as $300,000 for a heavily assisted shot at the summit. The South Col Route is like a two-lane freeway, with a 75-miles-per-hour speed limit, and no shoulder to pull off on. Though they hoped to ultimately attempt a new route, the elite climbers were using the South Col Route up to Camp Three for acclimatization climbs and gear-shuttling purposes in preparation for their big day.

Put another way, Steck and Moro were attempting something akin to looking for an Amazon butterfly species that lives in the path of a one-hundred-ton scorched-earth logging operation.

April 27, 2013, was a day of rest for the Western mountain guides and their clients. Some would be taking it easy in base camp; others would do the same at Camp Two on an acclimatization rotation. Steck, Moro, and Griffith saw this particular rest day as an opportunity to move more freely on the mountain at a time when less-experienced climbers would not be crowding the route. That morning, they set off from their tents in Camp Two for Camp Three on an acclimatization foray.

After Camp Two, the horizontal world ends and a vertical world begins. Climbers must spend a hard day scaling a section of an imposing and often icy slope known as the Lhotse Face. Camp Three is hacked into the side of the face at 23,500 feet, with man-made terraces just wide enough to fit a few tents.

By midday, the Europeans were halfway to Camp Three. Also on the face that day was a small group of Sherpa climbers, working for the guiding companies. Sherpas—an ethnic group native to the Solu-Khumbu region of the Himalayas, where Everest sits—had always played a significant role in the guiding industry, but by 2013 they were beginning to take increasing ownership of it, and thus were becoming more protective of it than ever before. Poverty was once crippling for the Sherpas of the Solu-Khumbu, even by Nepali standards. The Everest business had changed that.

The half dozen or so Sherpas working on the Lhotse Face were installing a three-thousand-foot rope safety line. This and the rest of the approximately twelve miles of “fixed rope” that is installed on Everest each season would essentially act as a limp handrail for the benefit of less-experienced client climbers, who would need the safety net during their trudge toward the top. (The ropes are left in place and remain on the mountain until they are buried by the snow, fall apart naturally, or are cut loose because they’re in the way.) Among the team were Mingma Tenzing Sherpa, a well-liked and very experienced sirdar (a management position held by Sherpas), who worked for the American guiding company International Mountain Guides (IMG), and Tashi Riten Sherpa, a young IMG employee. The rest were employees of other Western guiding companies.

The job the Sherpas were doing was particularly delicate, involving hundreds of pounds of rope and climbing hardware such as razor-sharp ice screws and carabiners. Installing the fixed ropes often takes several days, and there are well-understood rules among the guiding companies about steering clear of the Sherpas until they’re finished. All the commercial teams had met and explicitly agreed to avoid the face for several days. Steck, Moro, and Griffith were not at that meeting. As a small, noncommercial team, they did not feel obliged to clear their movements with other expedition leaders.

Still, aware of the dangers of the task the Sherpas had in front of them, the three had purposely plotted a route up the face that was a good 150 feet away from the rope-fixing team. They would also be climbing without ropes—“alpine style”—which would allow them to give the Sherpas a wide berth and move past them quickly. Griffith’s footage from the day shows Steck plunging his ax into the snow, ascending quickly and playfully like a child climbing a tree. The alpinists were clearly enjoying themselves.

In order to reach Camp Three, however, they needed to eventually traverse across the face and over the Sherpas’ ropes. The Sherpas were stacked in a long line as they worked at various elevations. The Europeans understood the importance of treading lightly and moving quickly. The two crews slowly merged, with Steck, Moro, and Griffith moving laterally, passing above some Sherpas and below others. As the climbers from both teams drove the spikes of their crampons and axes into the face for purchase, chunks of ice and snow rained onto those below. Mingma Tenzing rappelled down to confront Steck and Moro, yelling. Tension grew. Insults flew. Soon there was grabbing and shoving among the men clinging to the icy mountainside.

A fall seemed imminent—until a single word ended everything.

In a panic, Moro called one of the Sherpas a machikne. “Motherfucker” is the direct translation from Nepali, but the insult is considered far worse to the Nepalese. Moro had long worked side by side with Sherpas in his job as a helicopter rescue pilot, and he says he knew the word from late-night card games with some of his many Sherpa friends. In that moment, he believed his Swiss friend was about to be pulled off the face and killed. The shock of the insult stopped everything. As it turned out, one of the Sherpas’ radios happened to be stuck in the Talk position, and the entire exchange was being broadcast into every mess tent on the mountain. Expedition leaders in the camps below listened raptly, helpless to intervene.

Then, with eerie calm, the Sherpas gathered their gear and began descending back toward Camp Two. It was only one p.m., and there was still much rope to fix. The three Europeans decided to stay behind and continue some of the rope work themselves as an act of goodwill. They knew there would be a reckoning when they returned to camp, though nothing that couldn’t be settled over a cup of tea and a handshake, they thought—especially after letting the Sherpas know they’d helped with the ropes.

By late afternoon, most Western climbers and Sherpas at Camp Two are making small talk while sipping tea—or something stronger—in one of the heated mess tents. Entering Camp Two around three p.m., Steck, Moro, and Griffith planned on addressing what had happened on the Lhotse Face right away. They were eager to put the conflict behind them. They would just drop their climbing equipment at their tents, then continue straight on to the communal tents of the guide services to talk to the Sherpas and hash things out with the help of the guiding company expedition leaders. They knew the Sherpa climbers would likely already have recounted the incident to their bosses.

Before the Europeans even had time to reach the guide company camps, they were intercepted by Greg Vernovage, the IMG expedition leader. Vernovage had overheard the entire incident on the radio. “We asked everyone to just stay in their camps while we worked things out,” he recalls. But while he was eager to smooth things over and was willing to be the middleman, there was no question about who he felt was to blame. “We had asked everyone in Camp Two to steer clear of the face that day, while the Sherpas worked,” he says.

Vernovage walked with the three European climbers back to one of their tents. They were all discussing the best way to move forward when Melissa Arnot, a twenty-nine-year-old American guide, burst in, panicked. “You guys need to get out of here,” she warned. “They’re coming.”

Arnot hastily explained that dozens of Sherpas were marching toward them, banded together from separate expeditions, many wearing scarves to cover their faces and some clutching baseball-size rocks.

Steck, Moro, and Griffith realized that there was no hope of calmly hashing things out. The angry voices drew near too quickly for them to get their gear together and escape. “We were trapped,” Steck recalls. “I’m pretty used to dealing with dangerous situations. But people are different from mountains.” As he cowered in his tent, Steck couldn’t help but consider the irony that this might be the way his life came to an end. “I was thinking about how I’ve climbed so many cool mountains, without oxygen, without ropes—‘I can’t believe this is how I’ll die. I’m so stupid for coming to Everest.’ ”

Rocks began to fly at the Europeans’ tent. One struck Steck in the head, unleashing a stream of blood down his face. Vernovage and Arnot attempted to hold the line, standing firm with their arms linked between the tent and the Sherpas. Vernovage was staring down many of his own trusted employees. “I lost the ability to calm them down,” he said in a documentary about the incident. “Many were young and I didn’t know that was in them until I saw it.” Another guide, Marty Schmidt, joined the standoff and knocked a rock from a Sherpa’s hands.

Amid the chaos, Steck, Moro, and Griffith managed to split up to hide in separate tents. Steck’s head was still gushing with blood when he heard Sherpas nearby saying, “Get that guy out. First we kill him, then we look for the other two.” Moro too says he heard Sherpas saying that they deserved to die.

Many Sherpas dispute this, including the young Tashi Riten. He admits to stoking the violent confrontation, but not that far. “If Sherpas had really wanted to kill them, would they be alive now?” he asks. Tashi Riten also acknowledges that he ignored some of the more senior Sherpas who were trying to calm the situation, as he and some of the other younger men rallied for a fight. Dawa Steven Sherpa, the owner of the guiding company Asian Trekking and something of an elder statesman on Everest by that point, says, “We asked our senior Sherpas at Camp Two to try and go talk sense into the young rope-fixing Sherpas.”

Tashi Riten did not back down. He stood in front of Moro’s tent and demanded an apology. “I had once heard that in Italy, having to kneel is the worst thing,” he says. Cell phone footage shows Moro emerging from a tent and immediately dropping to his knees in deference, asking for forgiveness. Arnot, in tears, pleaded for calm and mercy. Rocks continued to fly. One Sherpa reached past Arnot and Vernovage and slapped Moro across the face. Another kicked him with a heavy mountaineering boot. Arnot and Vernovage continued to stand their ground. Many who were there later said that the presence of a strong woman was likely the only thing that staved off an all-out attack.

With the European climbers essentially cornered, the Sherpas offered what felt like a draconian compromise. “They told us that if we were not gone in an hour they would kill all three of us,” remembers Griffith. The men gathered a few necessities. As they set off in the fading light, they paused just long enough to notice the silhouettes of some Sherpas on the ridgeline, watching them flee.

Thirty minutes later, they reached the top of the Khumbu Icefall. They were so scared that they decided to avoid the standard, safer route, and make it more difficult for the Sherpas to follow them. This was an especially risky choice given the fact that they were traveling soon after the hottest part of the day, when melting ice and snow makes the glacier even more unpredictable.

As the Europeans danced through the gantlet of crevasses and kept a lookout for falling ice, the expedition leaders in base camp—Westerners and Sherpas alike—were having heated conversations over radio about how to handle the situation. For many, the priority was saving the season from an all-out mutiny. The guiding business was livelihood and lifeblood for them all, and this incident felt like an existential threat. Blame was being meted out on both sides. “Some company owners were already calling for us to be jailed,” says Tashi Riten. “They requested an armed police force to come and get us.” No such force materialized.

Eventually, the Europeans made it safely to base camp. Steck was truly shaken and insisted they leave immediately. Griffith agreed. “Ueli and Jonathan wanted to get the fuck out of there,” says Moro. But Moro wanted to stay, still hoping to work out a truce. He loved Everest, called the place home for a good part of the year, and felt a deep connection to the Sherpas who had become his friends. He hated the idea of damaging the place and its people.

Moro’s argument won out, and with the help of Dawa Steven and a New Zealander guide company owner named Russell Brice, among others, a meeting was organized. “I was pushing for the outcome of the meeting to be put in writing,” Tashi Riten says. “It wasn’t enough to just have an oral agreement. Otherwise, in coming generations, there will always be shame about this event, and we were just defending our pride.”

A peace treaty of sorts was drawn up, agreed to, and signed. But the two main things it stipulated were reiterations of the norm as it already stood: Sherpas would be the ones to fix ropes, and their work would be undisturbed. It seems the settlement was less about the specific incident between the Europeans and Sherpas than an expression of the feeling among Sherpas that they deserved more control and respect. They deserved to be heard.

With the incident smoothed over, the Europeans abandoned their climb and left the Khumbu (though Moro did continue to fly rescue helicopters the rest of the season). Tashi Riten was let go by IMG, though he was rehired by a Nepali company to finish out the season. He has always regretted that the conflict turned physical, but he also says “there were some people that thanked me,” pointing to what he saw as a reduction in the disrespect aimed at Sherpas after they’d stood up for themselves.

Meanwhile, the 2013 spring guiding season resumed. Roughly eight hundred people had their sights set on the summit that season. Six hundred and eighty-four people were successful and eight died—unremarkable statistics for an Everest season. To a typical client, it might have seemed as if nothing much had happened. In fact, everything had changed. The fuse that had been slowly burning for decades, ever since a Texan named Dick Bass had inadvertently kicked off the Everest guiding industry twenty-seven years earlier, had at last reached the powder keg.
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It was a sunny Wednesday in Burbank, California, 535 feet above sea level. By late afternoon, fifty-foot palm trees were casting long, skinny shadows across the boulevards, soon to be clogged with Angelenos waiting their turn to get on a freeway. Inside the vast soundstages of NBC Studios, however, time and place faded away as contestants bought vowels on the set of Wheel of Fortune and soap stars rehearsed dialogue for Days of Our Lives.

In Studio 1, Doc Severinsen and his band played through a commercial break as host Johnny Carson prepared to bring out his final guest for the May 15, 1985, episode of The Tonight Show. The guest didn’t have the star power of Roger Moore, who would be stopping by later in the week to promote his turn as 007 in A View to a Kill. Nonetheless, there was about to be a Tonight Show first.

An applause sign flashed above the studio audience, cameras rolled into position, and Carson locked eyes with the ten million Americans watching at home. “OK, let me tell you a little bit about my next guest. Richard Bass is a businessman—spent most of his life sitting behind a desk. He’s fifty-five years old and he’s achieved the remarkable feat of climbing the highest mountain on each of the seven continents of the world.

“Two weeks ago, believe it or not, he was on top of Mount Everest—would you welcome Richard Bass.”

The man who emerged from behind the light blue curtain was a couple of inches shy of six feet and wore an expensive-looking dark navy suit with a black tie. Lean, with weathered good looks, a warm smile, and a movie-star squint, he could be mistaken for The Rockford Files’ leading man, James Garner. Yet a movie star Bass was not. Clearly new to this showbiz thing, the Texan glanced down at the floor and headed straight for Carson. After a handshake, Richard Bass—or Dick, to his friends—took his seat beside the comedian Robert Klein and Carson’s sidekick, Ed McMahon. Bass crossed his legs, revealing a shiny black cowboy boot, and smiled.

“Obviously, the chapped lips are from being on top of Mount Everest, right?” Carson asked.

“Very definitely,” Bass said in his thick drawl, chuckling.

Carson asked a couple of questions about the seven mountains he’d summited—such as how he went about choosing which to climb first—but there was a palpable sense that both host and guest were eager to talk about one in particular. Carson cut to the chase. “So, this was your fourth attempt to climb Mount Everest.”

“That’s right,” Bass said. “We started in eighty-two. It was four years in a row.”

“And how many people have been to the top of Mount Everest?”

“Oh, approximately one hundred and seventy or so.” (Bass was the 174th.) “About one in ten are successful.” While those were impressively low odds, Carson had invited Bass onto his show because Bass’s accomplishment had an extra layer of improbability. Bass was known for sayings like “The only exercise I ever get is running through airports to catch a plane,” and he’d stated that the only climbing he did was “getting up and out of bed.” Throughout his life, Bass had embraced the idea of succeeding at things with as little preparation as possible, his Seven Summits endeavor included.

“Now, most mountain climbers, as I know it, spend a lot of time on the training to do something like that,” Carson probed. “And you went out in a relatively short amount of time and did it.”

“That’s true,” Bass replied. “I found that I have a really slow-beating heart, naturally, and a low blood pressure.” He had a way of recounting his adventures, whether in business or in the mountains, as though they were a lucky accident. He smiled again, looked up at the studio audience, and with a characteristic dash of self-deprecation, landed a punch line he used often: “And I talk a lot, so I keep my lungs in good shape—I’m physically made for it.”

Carson then cued footage of Bass on Everest, filmed just a few weeks earlier, while Bass narrated. Scenes of him plunging his ax into icy walls and tiptoeing over gaping crevasses did have a fish-out-of-water feel, but it was clear he knew the mountain intimately. When the defining image appeared—Bass on the summit, shrouded in cloud, unrecognizable behind layers of goose down, Gore-Tex, goggles, and an oxygen mask—words escaped him.

“Summit day is a real ordeal,” was all Bass could muster for Carson.

Carson went fishing for more, though he seemed to realize that the right words were beyond his own reach as well: “The exhilaration must be incredible at that moment, thinking about this for years and years, and all of a sudden realizing… you’re on top of Mount Everest.”

Bass beamed, not adding a word.

“It’s a remarkable achievement—congratulations,” Carson told him before turning to the camera.

“We’ll take a break, we’ll be right back.”



Climbing Everest was by no means Dick Bass’s first preposterous idea.

Raised in Dallas, he was the second son of Harry W. Bass Sr., one of the richest and most influential men in the natural gas industry. In 1949, at the age of nineteen while on a summer vacation in Europe, he visited Zermatt, Switzerland, where he first laid eyes on what many say is the most perfectly shaped mountain in the world: the Matterhorn. In the Alps, mountain guides are as common as dairy farmers, and for them, climbing the Matterhorn is just another day at the office. Bass hired one to help him climb it, and he soon stood on the summit, smitten with the idea that he’d been able to scale one of the world’s most famous mountains with this person’s help.

Well aware that his path to success in life was about as short and straight as a drag strip if he just paid a few dues, Bass graduated from Yale in 1950 with a degree in geology and then served two years in the navy, stationed in Korea, once sneaking off to Japan to hike to the top of Mount Fuji. Upon his return to the States, he began to learn his way around the family business. He married his first wife, Rita, and had four children, but never stopped daydreaming or searching for challenges that he could sink his teeth into. Indeed, Bass was heir to an oil empire that had set him up for life, yet it was never his money that defined him, it was the surprising ways in which he chose to spend it.

In 1965, an opportunity came up to invest in a small ski resort project in Colorado, today known as Vail. He had a home built on a prime lot near the main chairlift and spent the next six years traveling between Vail and Dallas, juggling family life with his gnawing desire to be in thin air, surrounded by mountains. He was determined to instill a sense of adventure in his children—and an appreciation for suffering—with predawn hikes and hunting trips in subzero temperatures.

One night at a party in Vail, Bass met an out-of-towner named Ted Johnson, who told him about a piece of paradise just outside Salt Lake City, Utah, called Little Cottonwood Canyon. Johnson was on the hunt for a partner to help develop a new ski resort. “The first time he saw that glaciated valley, he couldn’t believe something so Alpine existed in the United States,” his eldest son, Jim Bass, who was there with him on that initial trip, remembers. “It was a cathedral experience for my dad.” In 1970, Johnson and Bass broke ground on Snowbird Ski Resort.

Unsurprisingly, the ever-social Dick Bass found that his favorite part of ski resort ownership was guest relations. Bass would shake hands, tell stories on the chairlift, and ski with anyone he could, thus living up to the fond nickname he’d been given: “Large Mouth Bass.” But he would also return from winter trips in Europe with grand ambitions to create the biggest and best ski resort in the world. In Jim’s words, his father was “a dreamer—not an execution guy.”

Johnson sold his stake in Snowbird to Bass in 1974, and while it was on its way to becoming one of the biggest ski resorts in the country, it was struggling financially. By the end of 1980, Bass was fifty-one years old and $4 million in debt. The bank was breathing down his neck. Mountains had always brought him solace during times like these, and right about then, Bass would have climbed just about anything to clear his head.

“My dad was under unbelievable pressure at all times, keeping Snowbird going,” says Jim. “Another one of his lines was that going climbing allowed him to run away from his debtors. That guy had nine lives, financially—he’d be flat on his back and then some miracle would happen.”

One afternoon in the winter of 1981, he found himself mingling with his ski and safety patrol employees during their daily après-ski ritual at Snowbird’s Tram Club. Skiers and resort staff swapped stories over a few beers while marveling at the mechanics of the mountain’s main gondola, which were on display behind giant windows that faced the engine room. Among the Snowbird staff present was the ski patrol manager, Bob Bonar, and a senior patroller named Marty Hoey.

When she wasn’t at Snowbird, Hoey was one of the only woman guides on Mount Rainier in Washington, and the only one on North America’s tallest peak, Denali, in Alaska. (Formerly known as Mount McKinley, its indigenous name of Denali was officially restored by the federal government in 2015.)

“Will you guide me up Denali?” Bass asked Hoey, sensing he might have found his escape.

At twenty-nine, Hoey had already gained a reputation as one of the strongest mountain guides in the country. Her five-foot-six frame and delicate features were paired with a stoic disposition and tireless work ethic. She was employed in a world where she was either underestimated or overscrutinized because of her gender. In response to Bass’s question, she joked her way out of having to say no. “Bass, your hot air won’t get you up that mountain,” she said. It was a rebuke so good, Bass would retell it for the rest of his life.

While Bass took the jab in stride, he wasn’t about to take no for an answer. After weeks of his wearing her down and charming her into thinking he was up to the challenge, Hoey eventually agreed to guide Bass and his four kids to the top of Denali that spring. But she also did her best to explain that, on a mountain like Denali, there is little margin for error. She knew how much Bass hated to train. “I don’t think you can make it,” she told him, matter-of-factly.

A few months later, in the spring of 1981, a bush plane dropped Bass, his four children, Hoey, Bob Bonar, and a couple of other guides Hoey knew, along with a thousand pounds’ worth of gear and food, on the Kahiltna Glacier. They were sixteen miles and 13,000 feet below Denali’s 20,310-foot summit.

Even for someone who spent his life leaping before looking, Bass seemed to be in way over his head. He had taken only a few strides on his cross-country skis when the sixty-plus pounds on his back, and fifty more in the sled he was towing, overwhelmed him. He couldn’t go more than ten feet without gasping for air, and he was pouring sweat beneath the unforgiving Arctic sun. Bass tried to hide it but his kids could tell he was struggling. Jim remembers his dad declaring on day one that Hoey was right—he wasn’t going to make it. But Bass started quietly reciting poems to himself in order to find a rhythm that would carry him to their first camp, and he eventually made it.

It was during his days on Denali that Bass learned something about his body that would change the course of his life. The higher he climbed, the stronger he felt. At altitudes that were so dizzying his daughters, Barbara and Bonnie, finally decided they wouldn’t be going any higher, Bass felt energized. His legs grew stronger and his heart slowed. He reveled in the fact that he was having no problem at all keeping pace with Hoey.

On summit day, he felt unstoppable. He reached the roof of North America in the late afternoon and, despite it being 37 degrees below zero, waved his ice ax and let out a cry of joy. “The altitude didn’t seem to affect him at all,” remembers Bonar. Hoey was impressed.

Bonar says that, during the descent, it was as if Bass’s subconscious suddenly became aware of what pushing himself to his physical limits in the mountains meant to him—how necessary it was to his psyche, how it shaped his perspective on everything from fatherhood to friendship to financial stress. Climbing the highest peak in North America felt like the beginning of something. But of what?

Bass began thinking about one of his childhood heroes, Richard Halliburton. The early twentieth-century adventurer and writer had often mentioned wanting to sail the seven seas. What about climbing the highest mountain on each of the seven continents? Bass wondered. In addition to Denali, those would be Aconcagua in Argentina, Kilimanjaro in Tanzania, Elbrus in the Soviet Union, Vinson in Antarctica, Kosciuszko in Australia, and, of course, Everest in Nepal. As he later recounted in a book about his adventures, he thought, Christ, I’ve only got six to go.

When Bass mentioned his Seven Summits idea to Hoey, her response showed just how much the Denali climb had changed her opinion of him. “That’s a fantastic idea,” she said. “In fact, I’d like to come with you.”



Bass’s quest to climb the highest mountain on each of the seven continents began much as it ended: on a Hollywood studio back lot. In the summer of 1981, just a few weeks after he had summited Denali, he found himself in Los Angeles on the Warner Bros. lot, watching the studio president, Frank Wells, pace the boardroom. “We’ve got a lot to talk about,” Wells began.

It turned out that Wells also wanted to climb the Seven Summits, and he was looking into the logistics. Through his friend, the actor Clint Eastwood, Wells had hired a man named Jack Wheeler to assist with the planning. Wheeler was a sort of professional adventurer who had been hired by Eastwood to scout film locations in the Arctic that could double as the Soviet Union for the spy thriller Firefox.

By chance, Wheeler had then met Bass at a party in Dallas. They struck up a conversation about mountain climbing, and when Wheeler mentioned Wells and his ambitions, Bass could hardly believe what he was hearing. They’d had the same dream. Wells and Bass decided to meet to talk about teaming up.

“I’ve checked into it—no one has climbed all Seven Summits. We would be the first,” Wells said. This was true, though they were unaware that a handful of others were already trying. For the next twenty minutes, as Wells ranted like a man possessed, Bass found himself in the rare position of not being able to get a word in edgewise. Only a year younger than Bass, Wells, a Rhodes scholar and Stanford Law graduate, was from a similar ilk. At six feet four, he had the physique of an athlete and the glow of a man who felt at home in the elements.

As Bass sat listening to Wells put the horse way before the cart, he wasn’t sure what to make of him. Wells had even less climbing experience than he did, and a similar disdain for training. Given the debt Snowbird was in, Bass knew he really shouldn’t be spending money and time away from work for such an expedition. But Wells’s enthusiasm got Bass’s imagination running wild. Bass genuinely felt he had met a kindred spirit.

Never one to let reality get in the way of a big dream, Bass followed his instincts and the two shook on it that day: they’d attempt the Seven Summits together. Swept up in the moment, he even agreed to meet Wells in the Soviet Union the very next month to climb Europe’s highest peak. Just three weeks after their initial meeting, in the fall of 1981, Bass and Wells arrived in the Caucasus Mountains and stood at the foot of the 18,510-foot Mount Elbrus.

The climb turned out to be more of a reality check than the start of something special. Wells and Bass dutifully followed their Russian guides up the seemingly endless snow ramp that led to the summit. Yet as Bass tapped into his reserves of stamina and recited poetry to propel him forward, Wells ran out of gas at 17,000 feet. When Bass stepped onto the summit, Wells was lying flat on his back lower down the mountain while his guide put crampons on his boots for him. After Wells took just a few more steps, his guide told him it was time to turn around. Wells didn’t argue.
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In the 1980s, ambitious mountaineers would tell you that you don’t wait until you’re ready to climb Mount Everest; you climb it when the opportunity presents itself.

Shortly after Bass summited Elbrus, he got a call from Hoey. She said that some guides she knew from Rainier Mountaineering Inc (RMI), the company she worked for when not at Snowbird, were planning a personal trip in the spring of 1982 to attempt Everest from the Tibet side. Lou Whittaker, an ox of a man and the founder of RMI, was leading the climb. Since funding was always one of the biggest challenges in putting together an Everest expedition, Hoey suggested to Bass and Wells that a hefty financial contribution might just be enough to get their names added to the climbing permit. Both China (which since 1951 had controlled Tibet) and Nepal operated on a strict one-climbing-permit-per-route policy on Everest at the time, and to be offered an opportunity to join an expedition in the 1980s was like getting accepted to Harvard—Bass and Wells knew better than to pass it up.

Whittaker had his eyes on a horrifying line up Everest that required climbing ten thousand feet of steep ice, snow, and rock called the North Wall. This rather direct ascent up the face led to the same ridge where the famed British climber George Mallory had died sixty years prior. Mallory’s petrified body still remained on the mountain, face down in the scree, his preserved naked back exposed, white and inert like a fallen marble statue.

Whittaker was one of the few climbers in the world with the credentials for such an undertaking. He was not only the twin brother of Jim Whittaker, the first American to summit Everest, in 1963, but also quite possibly the most experienced mountain guide in the United States. Perhaps Whittaker believed that summiting Everest via such a challenging route as the North Wall would be enough to allow him to step out from the shadow cast by his brother.

In putting together his team, Whittaker plucked the best and the brightest from his RMI guide staff. In addition to Hoey, he brought the six-foot-four, two-hundred-pound Eric Simonson; the soft-spoken but unshakable Phil Ershler; and the notoriously loyal and hardworking George “Geo” Dunn. The three young men were the backbone of RMI at the time. Whittaker also added a few seasoned big-mountain vets to the team, such as his longtime friend Jim Wickwire, the first American to summit the notoriously deadly second-highest peak in the world, K2.

Whittaker had been scrounging for any sponsorship or donation he could find, including one from a local beer company that chipped in $5,000 in return for footage of him cracking open a can at the top. It was a fraction of what they needed. So at Hoey’s suggestion, he agreed to meet with Bass and Wells to talk money. At the Gateway Inn diner, at the Mount Rainier National Park entrance, Wells asked Whittaker how much he needed. “All of it,” Whittaker answered matter-of-factly. “One hundred and eighty thousand dollars.” Wells was unfazed. Bass’s denial about his own financial situation at the time was powerful. They agreed right away to put up the cash.

At the time, it was the unlikeliest of alliances. No mountain guide had ever brought someone to Everest before, bearing explicit responsibility for that person’s success and safety. The mere idea of guiding on Everest hadn’t even really been discussed within the climbing community. This was exactly why Whittaker was relieved when Bass and Wells went to great lengths to insist that they be considered regular members of the expedition—not clients. Everest was still chewing up elite climbers and spitting them out—throwing them off 7,000-foot icy faces to their death or entombing them in 150-foot-deep crevasses. One hundred and seventeen people had summited by then—nearly a hundred Western climbers and about two dozen Nepali Sherpa climbers—but sixty-three people had also died trying. It was no place for amateurs. Bass and Wells’s chances of summiting and making it back down alive seemed slim to none. But that was explicitly understood to be their problem, not Whittaker’s.

In January 1982, a few months before they were due to leave for Tibet, Wells had a shot at redemption and a much-needed boost in confidence when he and Bass headed to Argentina to attempt South America’s highest peak, Aconcagua. At 22,837 feet, Aconcagua is a popular stepping stone to the thin air of the Himalayas. They invited some of the same guides and experienced climbers that would be part of their upcoming Everest expedition, including Hoey, Dunn, and Wickwire.

Unfortunately for Wells, the expedition had worryingly similar results to the one on Elbrus. What Bass lacked in ice ax technique he more than made up for in stamina and good cheer, and he made it to the top—Bass had now climbed three of the Seven Summits himself. Meanwhile, the higher up they got, the bigger a liability Wells became and, once again, he flamed out.

Nevertheless, in April 1982, Bass, Wells, and a dozen of America’s best mountain guides and climbers were riding a train across the Tibetan Plateau, headed for the Rongbuk Glacier. It was a monthlong overland journey just to get to base camp. For mountaineers like Whittaker, and for mountain fanatics like Bass and Wells, it made them feel as though they were following in hallowed footsteps. The early mountaineering history of Everest had unfolded primarily on the unforgiving ridges and rock faces of the mountain’s north side.



The people living in the foothills around Everest had always known that the mountain was something special. Those to the north called it Chomolungma, or “Holy Mother of the Universe”; those to the south called it Sagarmatha, “Goddess of the Sky.” But when British surveyors “discovered” the mountain in the middle of the nineteenth century, they were unaware of any local names and simply called it Peak XV.

The British had already made themselves at home next door in India, and everyone from botanists to geologists were making expeditions into the “unexplored” wilds of Nepal in search of new discoveries to add to Britain’s trophy case. Surveyors, in particular, were falling over themselves to measure the highest peaks of the world.

In 1852, an Indian mathematician named Radhanath Sikdar, who worked for the British survey office, declared he had discovered the world’s highest mountain. Peak XV, by his measurement, was 29,002 feet. (Impressively, Sikdar’s calculation—which he did from afar and possibly without having ever seen the mountain, but through compiling data from other sightings—was just 26 feet short of the updated computation made a century later with modern surveying technology.) The British renamed the mountain in honor of the previous surveyor general of Britain, George Everest.

As soon as a British team of mountaineers reached the Rongbuk Glacier in 1921 and deemed Everest climbable, the Brits became fixated on winning the race to the summit. George Mallory was the driving force in this obsessive march toward the top. He made multiple attempts, all from the north side, until his most famous in 1924, when he and his climbing partner, Sandy Irvine, went missing. The two were last seen alive on the northeast ridge, just below 28,000 feet. Thus launched one of Everest’s most enduring mysteries: whether they summited and then died on the descent, or perished before reaching their goal.

Political bickering between Tibet and Britain, paired with the increasing isolationism of a Nepalese king who wanted foreigners out of his country, kept all Westerners off Everest for nine years following Mallory’s death. When climbing resumed from Tibet in the 1930s and 1940s, the attempts remained unsuccessful, but they did bring about a major development in Himalayan mountaineering. Many Nepalese men from the Sherpa ethnic group were migrating to the British base of Darjeeling in India, looking for work as porters. They were also becoming more skilled as climbers. This meant British teams could count on recruiting the same experienced men they had worked with year after year.

One such porter was Ang Tharkay Sherpa, who in 1935 recommended his friend Tenzing Norgay Sherpa for expedition work. Tenzing Norgay, just twenty-one at the time, was born in a small Tibetan border village near Makalu, raised in Thamey in the Khumbu Valley, and had settled in India. Despite his slight frame, Tenzing Norgay quickly distinguished himself for his agility on the snow, as well as his stamina, strength, and loyalty.

The 1950 invasion and subsequent occupation of Tibet by China was a wake-up call for the Nepalese. Isolationism wasn’t in their best security interest, as it would leave them vulnerable to attack from China, so they began forging international relationships and allowing more foreigners into the country. In 1950, a British mountaineer named Bill Tillman, who had participated in Everest expeditions on the Tibet side in the 1930s, teamed up with Charles Houston, an American doctor, to explore the Nepal side. They were the very first Westerners to travel all the way up to the foot of Everest from the south. From previous vantage points, the Khumbu Icefall spilling off Everest’s south side looked far too dangerous to cross. On closer exploration, Tillman and Houston decided it wasn’t so impassable after all. In fact, the route they could just about make out—to the low point between Everest and Lhotse, a saddle-shaped feature known as the South Col, and then up the windswept southeast ridge—looked rather inviting.

But while Nepal had opened its borders, climbing permits remained a bottleneck, with just one permit per route being granted each year. And in 1952, it was the Swiss who got permission to make the first serious attempt of Everest from the Nepal side, via the southeast ridge. The Swiss climber Raymond Lambert and Tenzing Norgay reached 28,200 feet on the expedition, the highest verified point to date, before they were forced to retreat when bad weather enshrouded the peak. Upon hearing the news that the Swiss had not succeeded, the British rejoiced, for it was they who had permission the following year. The Swiss had essentially loosened the lid of the jar. Sure enough, on May 29, 1953, it popped.

The 1953 British expedition had a sense of destiny about it. It was well organized, militaristic in its discipline, and included some extremely ambitious mountaineers who were not afraid to jockey for position on summit attempts. In the end, it was the New Zealander Edmund Hillary who outmaneuvered the others and set off in clear weather with Tenzing Norgay, who had now spent more time high on Everest than any other climber.

The second Kiwi in history to climb Everest, Nick Banks, who summited in 1979, knew Hillary well. “The fascinating thing about Hillary is that he’s often portrayed as the bumbling happy-go-lucky beekeeper, which is complete rubbish,” says Banks today. “He was the most striving, ambitious man you’d ever meet.”

When Hillary and Tenzing Norgay stepped onto the top of the world together, their tears were hidden behind goggles, oxygen masks, hoods, and hats. Hillary extended his arm to shake Norgay’s hand; Norgay instead pulled Hillary close and embraced him. It cemented a lifelong bond.

The popularity of Nepal’s South Col route took off in the wake of Hillary and Norgay’s history-making moment. With Tibet still closed to Westerners in the wake of the Chinese invasion, it wasn’t until 1960 that Everest was finally summited from the north side, by a mixed Chinese and Tibetan team. In 1979 Tibet reopened to Western climbers, but by 1982, when Whittaker, Bass, and Wells arrived, there had still been only three successful expeditions from the north side, which had put sixteen people on top of Everest, in contrast to the one hundred or so who had summited from the Nepal side.



The Whittaker expedition took a Chinese rail line to Lhasa on the Tibetan Plateau, where they enjoyed one last night in a decent hotel. Late that evening, Bass and Wells dropped in on Hoey to say goodnight.

One of the people Hoey was bunking with had some big band music from the 1940s on the radio. Bass perked up. He later recounted the moment wistfully in his book.

“My kind of dance music,” Bass remarked.

“Wish I knew how to dance to this,” Hoey replied.

Bass extended his hand, and within minutes, he had Hoey doing the foxtrot. It was a poignant father-daughter-like moment, with an embarrassed but jovial Hoey, wearing earrings Bass had bought for her when they were in South America, laughing each time she got her footwork wrong. As Hoey had been so instrumental in Bass’s being able to pursue his Seven Summits dreams, and had taught him such a great deal along the way, he now basked in the feeling of teaching her something—leading, even.

The following four days were spent aboard old military trucks on atrociously rutted, muddy roads, which, on the north side, take you right up to base camp itself. This was a part of the world seemingly trapped in time. Expedition members recounted shoeless locals emerging from mud huts to stare and tug at the thick hair growing from their legs. After the teeth-rattling drive, and a couple of days at base camp sorting gear, Whittaker and the others covered the final distance to the advanced base camp at 21,000 feet atop the Rongbuk Glacier with a train of shaggy-haired yaks that carried their supplies. As they trekked, they got the thrilling experience of seeing Everest rise from the Tibetan Plateau completely unobstructed, punctuating the grandeur of the Himalayan Range—earth’s most impressive example of uplift.

Including the western spur where Pakistan, China, and India converge, called the Karakoram, the Himalaya region covers about 230,000 square miles—about the same area as the state of Texas and more than twice the size of the United Kingdom. There are fourteen Himalayan summits that rise above 8,000 meters (26,247 feet), which are commonly referred to as the “eight-thousanders.” The Karakoram is home to four of them: Broad Peak, Gasherbrum I, Gasherbrum II, and K2. Sitting nearby in Pakistan is Nanga Parbat. At the far opposite end of the Himalayas, on the border between India and Nepal, is the world’s third-highest mountain, Kangchenjunga. The remaining eight-thousanders—Everest, Lhotse, Makalu, Cho Oyu, Dhaulagiri, Manaslu, Annapurna, and Shishapangma (in descending order of height)—are all more or less clustered in the middle, around the Nepal-Tibet border.

In Whittaker’s group there were seventeen climbers and two and a half tons of gear and food. It would be one of a tiny handful of Everest expeditions in history to date to not use any hired Sherpa help, and the climb itself would take eight weeks, largely due to the monumental task of shuttling gear and food up the mountain.

After three weeks of living at the advanced base camp and doing laps to set up the higher camps, even Bass and Wells were carrying impressive loads, earning respect from the team. Whittaker gave them his blessing to make a trip up the steep section above Camp Three.

But it was clear long before the trip ended that neither of them would be going any farther than Camp Four, at 23,500 feet. The terrain was simply too technical. And based on the condition the other climbers were in, noticeable to all as they staggered into camp, Bass and Wells made peace with this decision pretty quickly.

Once Camp Five was set up at 25,000 feet, the team felt it was time to select the strongest members to try for the summit. Whittaker chose Hoey, Wickwire, Dave Mahre, and Larry Nielson to be the ones to go for it. At the end of a long day, Mahre and Nielson were about 150 feet above Hoey and Wickwire, scouting for a place to make their Camp Six. In the deteriorating weather, Mahre and Nielson shouted down for more rope. Wickwire and Hoey, who were taking a break, stood up and scrambled to help. Wickwire then watched in horror as Hoey began falling backward. As she slid headfirst down the face, she rolled to one side and made a lunge for the rope, but couldn’t grab it. She disappeared. Wickwire was stunned as he looked down to see Hoey’s harness splayed open, still attached to the rope. The waistbelt was undone. It is believed that for some unknown reason, she undid it during the break.

When Bass heard the news on the radio, he dropped his oatmeal. He and Wells were devastated. Whittaker later sent a team to look for her body, but all they found was one of her crampons and some blood on the rocks. Had Hoey summited Everest, she would have been the first American woman to do so. Alas, no one from Whittaker’s team summited that year.

Before leaving the Rongbuk Glacier, the team built a rock cairn as a memorial to Hoey and carved her name into a stone plaque that they placed on top. They held a service for her before somberly beginning the arduous process of returning to civilization.

While Bass had spent most of his time on Everest’s north side portering gear, without any realistic shot at the summit, he left having experienced a sad but intrinsic truth about mountaineering: people die. Even friends. It’s a reality that seemed to be baked into the very planning of an Everest expedition, as after Hoey’s death, Whittaker still sent one more team toward the summit, with Nielson ultimately making a brave push by himself to 27,500 feet, before returning to base camp with severe frostbite.

The base camps on both sides of the mountain have dozens of makeshift memorials to dead climbers, some who have been carried off the mountain, some who remain where they took their last breath, and many who, like Hoey, have seemingly vanished into thin air. Naturally, the memorials—and the bodies on the mountain—tend to affect nonclimbers more than experienced mountaineers, who often feel that the very meaning of climbing mountains comes from the risk itself.

But it was perhaps the first time Bass truly understood the stakes of what it meant to be a climber. He wrestled with mixed emotions and even wondered aloud to Wells if they should take a break from the Seven Summits. “No chance,” was Wells’s reaction. Bass didn’t fight him. He still wanted the Seven Summits just as badly as Wells, and now wanted Everest most of all. The mountain had him under its spell.
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In the summer of 1982, just a few months after Hoey’s tragic death, Wells defiantly announced to Bass that 1983 would be the year they finished the Seven Summits—together. They had become such close friends that they were committed to summiting every mountain in tandem, even the ones Bass had already completed.

The year began on a high note. In January, they went back to Argentina to climb Aconcagua. Wells had befriended Rick Ridgeway, a well-known Southern California–based climber and writer who had made several bold ascents around the world, including of K2. Ridgeway signed on for Aconcagua and even brought along his good friend Yvon Chouinard, the founder of the Patagonia clothing company. Chouinard was forty-five at the time, and Patagonia was a $30 million company. Rich or not, top climbers are notoriously opportunistic when wealthy civilians will pay for their adventure.

Ridgeway and Chouinard had both been vocal about their disapproval of those who had not paid their dues in the mountains. Nevertheless, even a notorious curmudgeon like Chouinard thought it sounded like fun to spend three weeks in South America with this jolly Texan and eccentric Hollywood bigwig, so he put his prejudice aside. “I knew they had no climbing experience, whatsoever,” he remembers. “But, still, it just sounded like fun to be with these guys, and with Ridgeway—and to climb Aconcagua and not have to pay for it. But I certainly wasn’t a guide on the trip.”

Ridgeway, who grew close to Bass and Wells, was later recruited to write the book chronicling their climbing adventures, Seven Summits. In it, he openly admitted his initial reservations. “Both of them had so little climbing experience they could hardly be called amateur,” he wrote. “What made them think they had a chance? Naivete.” Looking back on his early experiences with the pair today, he says, “I had my bullshit detector up and tuned in to why these guys were doing it. I also had to try to judge how much of it was just some sort of ego thing so they could go back to the cocktail parties and brag about what they’ve done.”

To the surprise of the experts, the Aconcagua climb was a success. This time, Bass and Wells stepped onto the summit together. And Bass was as entertaining as Chouinard had hoped. Just as he did on Denali, Bass would stop for no apparent reason and loudly recite lines from Robert Service poems, including one of his favorites, “The Men That Don’t Fit In”:
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TYPICAL TIMELINE of 2
GUIDED EVEREST CLIMB in SPRING
via THE SOUTH COL ROUTE

Total length of trip: six to eight weeks

LATE MARCH: ARRIVE IN NEPAL

Day 1-2: Gather in Kathmandu

APRIL: TREK TO BASE CAMP AND ACCLIMATIZE

Day 3: Fly by small plane or helicopter to Lukla in the Khumbu Valley
Day 4-13: Trek for approximately ten days to Base Camp

Day 14-16:Begin acclimatizing to Base Camp elevation and
refreshing climbing skills

Day 16-35: Continue acclimatizing at Base Camp and by climbing

nearby peaks; travel through the Khumbu Icefall on rotations to Camp
One and Camp Two, returning to Base Camp

EARLY MAY: FINAL ACCLIMATIZATION ROTATION

Day 36-40: Make a rotation from Base Camp to Camp Three and back

MID-MAY: SUMMIT PUSH
Expedition leaders identify a suitable two-to-three-day weather window
for summiting, then set a date to leave Base Camp four to five days
before that
Day 41: Climb from Base Camp to Camp Two
Day 42:Rest at Camp Two
Day 43:Climb from Camp Two to Camp Three
Day 44:Climb from Camp Three to Camp Four

Day 45: Climb from Camp Four to the summit and back (some
climbers will descend all the way to Camp Two)

Day 45-46: Descend to lower camps and rest

Day 47-48: Return to Base Camp and rest

LATE MAY: RETURN TRIP
Day 48-53: Trek for three to five days to Lukla, then fly to Kathmandu
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